IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-473

NORMAN PARKER,

Appellant, v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RACHEL L. DAY Assistant CCRC Florida Bar #00668535

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel (954) 713-1284 Fax (954) 713- 1299

COUNSEL FOR MR. PARKER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Parker appeals the circuit court's denial of his successive motion for postconviction relief. In response to Mr. Parker's argument that the decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) created a change in Florida's *Strickland* jurisprudence that requires consideration and granting of Mr. Parker's postconviction claims, the circuit court ruled that Porter does not represent a change in the law (R. 76), that if it did the change would nevertheless not be retroactive (R. 76), and that even if *Porter* represented a retroactive change in law it would not merit relief in this case (Order at 6). Below, Mr. Parker identifies errors in each of those rulings.

CITATIONS TO THE RECORD

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal: "R" – the record on direct appeal; "R2" – record on previous postconviction appeal; and "R3" – the present postconviction record. All other citations will be self-explanatory or will be otherwise explained.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Rule 9.320 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, Mr. Parker respectfully moves this Court for oral argument on his appeal.

<u>INTRODUCTION</u>

In Porter v. McCollum, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's Strickland analysis in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. 447, 455 (2009). The United States Supreme Court made that determination pursuant to the standard established by the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA"), which does not permit a federal court to reverse a state court ruling on constitutional grounds simply because the federal court disagrees or the federal court thinks the state court was wrong, but rather requires what is treated as an extremely high level of deference to state court rulings, prohibiting federal courts from altering state court judgments and sentences unless the application of federal law by the state court, which in the *Porter* case was *Strickland*, was unreasonable, meaning not even supported by reason or a rationale. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter* must be read. When asking whether Porter requires a change in this Court's jurisprudence going forward, it must be considered that the United States Supreme Court in *Porter* found this Court's application of Strickland to be so unreasonable that the United States Supreme Court found it appropriate to reach past its concerns of federalism and deference to state courts and respect for state sovereignty to correct the unconstitutional ruling.

Mr. Parker asks this Court to consider *Porter* introspectively, looking past the first blush language of the opinion, and inquiring into whether or not *Porter* forbids something that this Court has done in the present case. In other words, giving *Porter* a read-through and asking if this case is distinguishable may be insufficient to identify the underlying constitutional problem; Mr. Parker asks this Court to attain a sense for the problem in conceptual approach that *Porter* identifies and then ask if something similar happened here. This Court must consider whether the unreasonable analysis in *Porter* was merely an aberration, limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case and wholly different and separate from other *Strickland* analyses by this Court, or whether it was in fact indicative of a non-isolated conceptual problem in this Court's approach to *Strickland* issues that occurred also in the present case.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Case history

Mr. Parker was indicted in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Case No. F78-11151, for the first degree murder of Julio Cesar Chavez, armed robbery, sexual battery and possession of a weapon during a criminal offense, and the possession of a weapon by a convicted felon. Mr. Parker was convicted as charged September 18, 1981. On November 18, 1981, the Circuit Court, Hon.

Fredricka Smith, J., sentenced Mr. Parker to death for the murder of Julio Cesar Chavez.

Mr. Parker raised the following issues on direct appeal: the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress statements; Mr. Parker's right to a venire drawn from a fair cross section of the community was violated; the trial court abused its discretion in refusing Mr. Parker's request for additional peremptory challenges and in denying his challenges for cause; the confession to the D.C. murder was not supported by a corpus delicti; the evidence was insufficient to support conviction; evidence that Mr. Parker used aliases in D.C. was improperly admitted; there was a break in the chain of custody of evidence; the State made improper comments during its penalty phase closing argument; erroneous jury instructions during the penalty phase; and the death sentence was disproportionate. The Florida Supreme Court upheld the death sentence on direct appeal. *Parker v. State*, 456 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 1984).

On January 2, 1987, Mr. Parker filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, raising thirteen claims. On December 23, 1988, Mr. Parker supplemented his original motion. During the pendency of the motion for post conviction relief in the trial court, on May 23, 1988, Mr. Parker filed a Petition for Extraordinary Relief, for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, Request for Stay of Execution, and Application for Stay of Execution

Pending Disposition of Petition for Writ of Certiorari. On December 1, 1988, this Court denied the petition. *Parker v. Dugger*, 537 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1988). On February 7, 1989, the circuit court denied Mr. Parker's postconviction motion. This Court affirmed the denial of Mr. Parker's motion for post conviction relief on October 15, 1992. *Parker v. State*, 611 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 1992).

On June 7, 1993, Mr. Parker filed a second motion for post conviction relief in the circuit court raising claims regarding the propriety of the instructions on the aggravating circumstances and consideration of mitigation. The circuit court denied this motion and the Florida Supreme Court affirmed. *Parker v. State*, 718 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1998). Mr. Parker petitioned the United States Supreme Court for certiorari review, which was denied. *Parker v. Florida*, 526 U.S. 1101 (1999).

On September 4, 2002, Mr. Parker filed a motion for post conviction relief pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). The circuit court denied the motion and this Court affirmed.

Facts relevant to the underlying Strickland claim

Porter error was committed in Mr. Parker's case. This Court ruled as follows:

After the December 1988 evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied relief on Parker's claims that trial counsel was ineffective in the penalty phase. Here too we agree with the trial judge's conclusion that Parker failed to meet the *Strickland* test. She found, in response to claims that family members should have been called in the penalty phase, that in these postconviction proceedings, three cousins, a sister and an aunt were called. However, because [Parker] had spent more than ten years in prison for a prior murder, these witnesses had had

little contact with [him] in the years immediately before the crimes were committed. Their statements had little impact, and, at times, supported the view that [Parker] appeared normal, rather than braindamaged and impaired.

The trial court also rejected the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to present the testimony of Dr. Stillman, a psychiatrist, in the penalty phase. The court explained:

Dr. Stillman's testimony is wholly unpersuasive. His conclusion that [Parker] is brain-damaged rests on the relatives' postsentencing report of [Parker's] brief loss of consciousness in two childhood accidents. Significantly, [Parker] himself denied any accidents in his 1980 interview with Dr. Stillman and [Parker] presents no medical record of any kind to substantiate these alleged injuries. In fact, his IQ, as tested by Dr. Stillman, is slightly higher than average, and there is no objective indication of [Parker's] compromised intellectual functioning. Dr. Stillman's opinion is simply that brain damage invariably results from loss of consciousness, no matter how brief the period of unconsciousness.

Moreover, Dr. Stillman's conclusions that [Parker] was incompetent to stand trial and insane at the time of the offense-neither conclusion being urged by [Parker] in these proceedings, and both conclusions being contradicted by the overwhelming evidence in the case-undermine the credibility of his further opinion that [Parker's] capacity to conform his conduct to law was impaired.

The court cannot conclude that the jury likely would have been persuaded by such testimony to recommend a sentence other than death, especially in light of the compelling aggravating circumstance that [Parker] had been convicted of murder on *two* prior and separate occasions.

We find no error in the trial court's conclusions.

Parker v. State, 611 So. 2d 1224, 1228 (Fla. 1992).

The testimony and evidence presented in the trial court also established that trial counsel's failures prejudiced Mr. Parker. The evidence established numerous significant mitigating factors, both statutory and nonstatutory, and certainly undermines confidence in the outcome of Mr. Parker's penalty proceedings.

Members of Mr. Parker's family testified at the evidentiary hearing regarding his deprived and miserable childhood, the head injuries he suffered as a child and his serious drug and alcohol abuse problems. James Parker Jr., Mr. Parker's cousin (PC-R. 1715), testified that Norman was not raised by his own parents because Norman's own father spent little time with him (PC-R. 1720), and his mother had a drinking problem (PC-R. 1712). After Norman came back from being in the Army, he was "disappointed" with the way he had been treated (PC-R. 1722). Norman began using heroin and barbiturates (PC-R. 1723), which changed him into being a person "under pressure" (PC-R. 1724). When Norman used drugs, he was "confused" and "[f]rustrated" (PC-R. 1735), and was "like a Dr. Jekyll/Mr. Hyde" (PC-R. 1736). Norman, however, had concerns for his younger brother. He would warn James not to use drugs because they would "destroy his life just like his." Id. Norman was using drugs until he left for Washington, D.C., in 1978 (PC-R. 1725).

Doris Rozier, another cousin (PC-R. 1741), testified she had known Norman

since childhood and that she and Norman were raised together by their grandmother (PC-R. 1744). Ms. Rozier described two serious accidents Norman had as a child. Once, when Norman was about two, some adults were throwing him up in the air and dropped him. Norman "went unconscious" (PC-R. 1744). When Norman was 12 or 13, a train hit him while he was riding his bicycle. *Id.* After that accident, Norman was "[d]efinitely" different: "The guy kind of acted weird-like, and all of a sudden, sometimes he'll be okay and sometimes he just was like spaced out, you know. We all assumed it was from the accident from the train" (PC-R. 1745).

Ms. Rozier also testified how Norman's parents neglected due to his mother's alcoholism and father's womanizing (PC-R. 1746-47), and also about his drug use and how it affected him. (PC-R. 1747-49).

Ms Rozier also testified how Norman was also strongly affected by his military service.

And when he went in the army and came out of the army, he just seemed different. He wasn't the same person anymore. He was totally different then. His moods had changed. He didn't hardly talk much. Didn't talk too much to the family. He stayed to himself for awhile, and then he would come around. He just always would hold his head down in his hands all the time. I never know why. I would ask him. He just nod his head and say there is nothing wrong, cuz, and nod his head and something like that.

(PC-R. 1751).

Patricia Ann Hacker, also a cousin (PC-R. 1770), testified that she had known Norman all her life and had known him well since 1965 (*Id.*). Norman was raised by his grandmother and uncle, and loved his family very much (PC-R. 1770-71). Norman used to talk to the kids in the neighborhood about the importance of going to school and staying away from drugs (PC-R. 1771).

Jacquelyn Parker, Norman's sister (PC-R. 1861), testified that she and her two sisters were raised in Liberty City by their grandmother, while Norman was raised in Opa-Locka by his grandmother (PC-R. 1862). Their mother did not raise the children because "she had a problem drinking." *Id*. The children saw their father "very seldom" (PC-R. 1863).

Inell Parker, also a cousin (PC-R. 1882), testified that Norman's mother drank a lot when Norman was growing up (PC-R. 1883-84). Norman was raised by his grandmother and uncle (PC-R. 1884). Inell Parker left the area, and when she came back in 1965, Norman was just getting out of the military to get a job (PC-R. 1884-85). In the subsequent years, Norman hung around with people in the neighborhood who were known to use drugs (PC-R. 1885-87).

In addition to the family members' testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, numerous affidavits of family members and friends were presented which also described Mr. Parker's abysmal childhood and his drug addiction (PC-R. 278-330). None of this information made its way to Mr. Parker's sentencing jury or

judge because defense counsel failed to look for it. This history establishes valid mitigation. It also should have been provided to a mental health expert.

Dr. Stillman's initial impression of Mr. Parker, after evaluating him, included significant mitigating information which a capital sentencing jury should be allowed to consider:

I had the impression that Mr. Parker was an addicted person who had misused substances, and that the substances had been related to what one might refer to anti-social acts that invariably somehow that was a connection between substance abuse and things that he got involved with. Even if there was just a couple of beers, that would be enough for certain people to set them off. It just seems some there was something wrong with the way he presented material, its fragmented nature, its disconnection. There just seemed to be something wrong.

As I said, I could not delineate exactly, because that comes out of experience. From the experience, I know that there was something wrong with this man, that one had to look into his drug and alcohol abuse, because it might lead us to other conclusions, which would be important.

Back in '81, we were seeing then the beginnings of the cocaine holocaust in Miami, and I was already familiar with other substances. And as it turns out, Mr. Parker didn't always report things too well for various reasons, which I can go into later. And that tended to play down things, even though he was arrested for drunkenness and so on, all apparently part of the record.

So it just became evident in my examination of him, which took, I believe, longer because of the length of this report and the density of it. I know that I took a lot of

time with him, and it just seemed to me there was more to this case that met the eye.

And I was trying to flag the idea that there should be more investigation into his condition with regard to drug and alcohol abuse and possible therefore leading to other findings which eventually became evident with error.

(PC-R. 1638-39). If Mr. Roffino and Mr. Velayos had followed up on the requests for information flagged in the letter from Dr. Stillman, they would have uncovered vital mitigating information. However Dr. Stillman was careful to note that he did not believe that Mr. Parker suffered from Anti Social Personality Disorder (PC-R. 1639-40). Dr. Stillman explained that he requested additional information in two or three different ways in his report because of "the way Mr. Parker conducted himself, his fragmentation of thinking" during the examination; "[t]here was a scattering of material that didn't follow exactly. It's called fragmentation. There was some fragmentation of thoughts and ideas. I couldn't quite grasp the continuity one would expect with that intellectual ability" (PC-R. 1641).

Dr. Stillman also had the impression from his initial evaluation that Mr. Parker suffered from brain damage (PC-R. 1645). This was another reason why he requested additional information (PC-R. 1642-43).

Dr. Stillman was not provided with the information he requested until postconviction proceedings were initiated. The history that was provided (also introduced at the hearing) included sworn statements from family members that Mr. Parker was thrown in the air as an infant and dropped on his head, resulting in profuse bleeding and unconsciousness (PC-R. 1644). At a later date, Mr. Parker was hit by a train and again rendered unconscious (PC-R. 1644). His school records demonstrate "a declining record of CDF, and gradual withdrawal from school in the tenth grade. He didn't like school. I guess he didn't like school, because he didn't do well in school" (PC-R. 1644-45). Mr. Parker's impulsivity had worsened by the time he came back from service in Korea, where he used intoxicating substances, mainly heroin (PC-R. 1645). Dr. Stillman summarized:

There just was -- there just was a lot of information which pointed in one direction, and that is he really has brain damage. And that brain damage, although suspicious in the beginning, with additional information became obvious and this should have lead to other investigations.

(PC-R. 1646). Dr. Stillman did not receive this vital information until after the sentencing jury had made their recommendation and the judge had sentenced Mr. Parker. (PC-R. 1646-48). Dr. Stillman explained further that this information strengthened and corroborated his original impressions:

Q. You've had a recent opportunity to see Mr. Parker?

A. Yes.

Q. Anything in that recent examination that undermines what is reflected in the records that you've been provided with or, that is, doesn't fit with your original examination?

- A. Well, no. I think my recent examination corroborates what I have found that he still is a little fellow and tries to make a good impression and tries to appear outgoing, but underneath it he has many serious problems, including brain damage.
- Q. Now, had you been provided with this information in 1980/81, would you have been able to formulate an opinion as to whether Mr. Parker suffered from extreme emotional disturbances at the time of the offense, assuming, in fact, he was guilty?
- A. Yes. I believe that would have been far more definitive in my statements concerning the fact that he had organic brain syndrome and my request would have been for further investigation of another kind.

(PC-R. 1648-49).

Dr. Stillman's testimony would have been very important at the penalty phase of Mr. Parker's trial. Had the attorneys provided him with the information he sought at the time, he would have testified to a number of statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, including organic brain syndrome. Under the influence of the substances, even of a small quantity, this condition would have rendered him "insane and incompetent in as far as a space of time," to the extent that his capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law had been substantially impaired and that he was under extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the crime (PC-R. 1649).

Dr. Stillman would also have provided information to the jury that

Mr. Parker was not capable of forming the mental state necessary to commit a cold, calculated or premeditated offense (PC-R. 1666-67).

To rebut Dr. Stillman's testimony, the State called Dr. Leonard Haber, a psychologist. However, in many respects, Dr. Haber corroborated Dr. Stillman's diagnosis that Mr. Parker suffered and suffers from brain damage, and that Mr. Parker could not validly be diagnosed as an antisocial personality. If anything, the account of Dr. Haber demonstrated why this case does involve important mental health mitigation which the sentencing jury should have heard.

Dr. Haber testified that he administered the Bender Gestalt Visual Test to Norman Parker and that the test, which is a screening test for brain damage, indeed did show signs of brain damage (PC-R. 1917;1923; 1925-26;1962). Further, Dr. Haber testified that the history of head injuries suffered by Mr. Parker and related by his family could be the cause of the brain damage, as could his abuse of drugs (PC-R. 1914-17). Dr. Haber noted in his testimony that Mr. Parker's family had related that Mr. Parker had suffered from two head injuries, and that these types of head injuries "could lead to brain damage" (PC-R. 1919, (PC-R. 1925-27).

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