IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-473

NORMAN PARKER, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Given what *Porter* actually says about proving prejudice and *Belmontes* and *Van Hook*, Defendant's suggestion that *Porter* requires a finding of prejudice anytime a defendant presents some evidence at a post conviction hearing is simply false.

Porter did not change the law in requiring that a defendant actually prove there is a reasonable probability of a different result.⁴ Since *Porter* did not change the law, the lower court

⁴ Using Defendant's analogy, the task of determining prejudice involves taking the bag of red and green apples as it existed from the time of trial, determining whether the new evidence actually adds any new red and green apples based on whether they are support by credible, non-cumulative evidence, adding both the new red and green apples and deciding whether the defendant has proven that the total amount of red apples outweigh the total amount of green apples. *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 453-54; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96.

properly determined that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) did apply to this situation and Porter had changed the law, the lower court would still have properly denied the motion because Porter would not apply retroactively. As Defendant admits, the determination of whether a change in law is retroactive is controlled by Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980). As Defendant also properly acknowledges, to obtain retroactive application of the law under Witt, he was required to show: (1) the change in law emanated from this Court or the United States Supreme Court; (2) was constitutional in nature; and (3) was of fundamental significance. Id. at 929-30. To meet the third element of this test, the change in law must (1) "place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties; or (2) be of "sufficient magnitude" necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the threefold test of Stovall and Linkletter." Id. at 929. Application of that three prong test requires consideration of the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001).

Here, Defendant did not attempt to show that the change in law he alleged was made in *Porter* met the *Witt* standard in his motion for post conviction relief or at the *Huff* hearing. (PCR5. 8-14, 94-106) Instead, he simply suggested that because this Court had found that *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), constituted a retroactive change in law, the lower court should find that *Porter* was also retroactive. *Id*. Given Defendant's failure to address the *Witt* factors, the lower court properly determined that Defendant had not shown that he was entitled to retroactive application of the alleged change in law in *Porter*. It should be affirmed.

This is particularly true since Defendant did not suggest that Hitchcock and Porter were alike in ways that actually were relevant to a Witt analysis. Instead, he compared them based on the stage of the proceedings at which the error was found and the manner in which the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion. However, when one considers the difference in the errors found in those cases and the relationship between those errors and the Witt standard, the lower court was correct in rejecting this argument.

In *Hitchcock*, 481 U.S. at 398-99, the Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper. As such, the purpose of

finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had а constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because the in а jury instruction, error was determining whether that error occurred in a particular case was simple. All one needed to do was review the jury instructions that had been given in a particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. See State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990) (refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old rule and effect on the administration of justice in Hitchcock militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast, *Porter* involved nothing more than determining that this Court had unreasonably applied a correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Thus, the purpose of *Porter* was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have

extensively relied on the standard of review from Strickland that this Court recognized in Stephens and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in Porter retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida.

Given these stark difference in the analysis of the changes in law in Porter and Hitchcock and their relationship to the Witt factors, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law from Porter would not be retroactive under Witt even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this Court recognized in Stephens itself, as both changes in law concerned the same legal issue. However, making that analogy merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the facts that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and that this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the lower court properly determined that any change in law that *Porter* might have made would not be retroactive. Thus, it properly found that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

In a belated attempt to show that he is entitled to retroactive application of the alleged error in *Porter*, Defendant suggests that he meets the *Witt* standard because the alleged purpose of the alleged change in law is to correct an error. He then asserts that neither the extent of reliance on the old rule nor the effect on the administration of justice can be known. However, Defendant never presented this argument below. As such, it is not properly before this Court. *See Perez v. State*, 919 So. 2d 347, 359 (Fla. 2005); *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). The argument should be rejected.

Further, this argument is nothing more than a call for this Court to abandon Witt in favor of a rule that all alleged changes in law are retroactive. Anytime a court changes the law, it does so because it believes the old law was erroneous. Thus, Defendant's suggested purpose would apply to any change in law. Moreover, Defendant's assertions about the other two prongs suggest that they are irrelevant. However, this Court held in Witt that only those changes in law about which the balance of the factors favored retroactivity would apply

retroactively because of the devastating effect on the important interest in finality of decisions that would occur if all changes in law were determined to be retroactive. Witt, 387 So. 2d at 925-27. As such, Defendant's argument that this Court should apply Witt in a manner that abandons Witt in favor of a rule that all alleged changes in law are retroactive should be rejected. The lower court should be affirmed.

This is particularly true here since Defendant's arguments are unsupportable. While it is true that Porter did involve correcting error, that concerned simply an error the unreasonable application of a properly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case. Williams, 529 U.S. at 413. the limited nature of that error, the purpose of correcting that error would not extend beyond Porter. Further, while Defendant suggests that it is impossible to know the extent of reliance on the old law, this is not true. All one would need to do is sheppardize the cases that Defendant claims were overruled and remember that they represent only the tip of the iceberg, as Fla. R. App. P. 9.141(b)(2) provides for summary appeals in noncapital cases in which post conviction motions were summarily denied, such that not all applications of the precedent would be reported. However, undertaking this task would merely show that the lower court was correct in finding that the extent of

reliance was great and that the effect on the administration of justice would be vast. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law was not retroactive under Witt. It should be affirmed.

In another belated attempt to show that the alleged change in law here meets Witt, Defendant compares the alleged change from Porter to the change in law in Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). However, this comparison is even more flawed that the comparison to Hitchcock. As was true of Hitchcock, the error in Espinosa concerned a jury instruction given at the penalty phase. Espinosa, 505 U.S. at 1080-81. As the United States Supreme Court has held, the Constitution only imposes two requirements on a capital sentencing scheme: (1) that it limit the class of death-eligible individuals, and (2) that it allow individualized consideration of mitigation. Kansas v. Marsh, 548 U.S. 163, 173-74 (2006). Thus, as was true in Hitchcock, the purpose of Espinosa was to correct an error in one of those requirements.

Further, the class of cases in which retroactive application of *Espinosa* was available was even more limited than in *Hitchcock*. In *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993), this Court limited retroactive application of *Espinosa* to those cases in which the defendant had objected to the

instruction at trial and raised the issue on direct appeal. Thus, the class of eligible cases was not only limited to those cases in which the offending jury instruction was given and the defendant was sentenced to death but also to those cases in the issue had been pursue previously. limitation on the class of eligible cases and the ease with which a determination of whether the error had occurred and whether the defendant was eligible for correction could be made, the extent of reliance on the old rule and the effect on the administration of justice limited and favored were retroactivity.

Again, the purpose of *Porter* was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the correct law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from *Strickland* that this Court recognized in *Stephens* and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in *Porter* retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida. Thus, Defendant's attempt to analogize the change in law that he alleges was made in *Porter* to the change of law

in *Espinosa* is even less apt than his comparison to *Hitchcock*. The lower court properly determined that the *Witt* standard would not be met had *Porter* changed the law. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, it should be remembered that this claim procedurally barred. Defendant is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding mitigation that he raised in his first motion for post conviction relief and lost. As this Court has held, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of doctrine, Defendant cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). also well established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Defendant is attempting to do here, his claim is barred and was correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)(discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate

ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). There, the defendant argued that his previously rejected claim of assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found under the AEDPA standard of review that state courts had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was barred and was properly denied. lower court should be affirmed.

Finally, it should be remembered that Defendant's counsel was not even authorized to file this motion. Pursuant to §27.702, Fla. Stat., "[t]he capital collateral regional counsel and the attorneys appointed pursuant to s. 27.710 shall file

only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute." This Court has recognized the legislative intent to limit collateral counsel's role in capital post-conviction proceedings. See State v. Kilgore, 976 So. 2d 1066, 1068-69 (Fla. 2007).

The term "postconviction capital collateral proceedings" is defined in §27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat., as:

"Postconviction capital collateral proceedings" means one series of collateral litigation of an affirmed conviction and sentence of death, including the proceedings in the trial court that imposed the capital sentence, any appellate review of the sentence by the Supreme Court, any certiorari review of the sentence by the United States Supreme Court, and any authorized federal corpus litigation habeas respect to the sentence. The term does not include repetitive or successive collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence of death which is affirmed by the Supreme Court and undisturbed by any collateral litigation.

§27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat. Accordingly, CCRC-S was not authorized to file this patently frivolous, repetitive and successive motion. Its denial should be affirmed.

II. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THIS CLAIM BECAUSE THE ALLEGED CHANGE IN LAW WOULD NOT AFFECT THE OUTCOME.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in rejecting his motion because the error that he alleges was made in *Porter* was also made in this case. However, the lower court also properly rejected this argument.

Initially, the State would note that for the reasons given in response to Issue I, this issue is moot. *Porter* does not represent a change in law or one that would be retroactive. As such, there is no effect of "*Porter* error" to assess.

However, even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) could apply to changes in law regarding existing rights that had yet to be held retroactive, *Porter* had changed the law, the alleged change in law was retroactive and the claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. As the Court recognized in *Witt*, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 930-31.

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